Appendix A

The following applicants for leases or favors during the first twelve years illustrate the wide variety of interest in the park, the distribution of interest and a view of what the public perceived as the role of a national park. Most of the applications were found in the archives at Yellowstone National Park, particularly in the Microcopies of the Records of the National Archives. Note there is not a particular citation for each reference.

- 10/28/72 H. F. Williams; Bozeman, Montana Territory; erect hotel in geyser basin.
- 09/29/73 G. H. Dillinbaugh; Bozeman, Montana Territory; hotel on route to geysers.
- 11/14/73 William Thompson; Virginia City, Montana Territory; hotel; support of Gov. B. Potts, Montana Territory.
- 12/12/73 W. T. Sanders, Helena, Montana Territory; hotel.
- 12/29/73 John Potter; Gallatin County, Montana Territory; "Potters Place" hotel and general merchandising near lake.
- 01/15/74 Knut Forsberg; Washington D.C.; surveying park/artistic topographic map/relief cork model for Centennial Exhibition of 1876—approximately \$116,000.
- 01/24/74 Gilman Sawtelle; Virginia City, Montana Territory; superintendent of park.
- 03/20/74 Walter Gusfenhoven; Laramie, Wyoming Territory; hunt/fish/cultivate soil, build/serve visitors
- 05/10/74 L. M. Black; Bozeman, Montana Territory; build toll road/erect hotel at Mammoth Hot Springs, falls, lake and geyser basin—endorsed by Congressman Martin Maginnis, Montana Territory and Supt. Langford.
- 06/01/74 Col. J. D. Chestnut; Bozeman, Montana Territory; small supply store at Mammoth Hot Springs endorsed by Montana Governor Potts.
- 01/04/78 J. H. Triggs, Emporia, Kansas; assistant superintendent of park; wanted to settle 40 families there to guard the park, erect hotels, liveries, etc. for visitors.
- n.d. Dr. George Monroe, Bozeman, Montana Territory; erect hotel and sanitorium at Soda Butte Springs.
- 05/07/79 A. W. Rose; Dixon Co. Nebraska; steamer on Yellowstone Lake.
- 07/21/79 Samuel J. Hoyt and others; town company

- townsite and steamer on Yellowstone Lake.
- 01/10/80 Carl Zeus; Grand Island, Nebraska; landscape gardening plan; series of large sketches.
- 10/08/80 A. B. and A. W. Hall; Fargo, Dakota Territory; erect hotels—supported by Senator Windom, Congressman W.D. Washburn and Hon. I. Washburn of Maine.
- 02/04/81 Wallace Sterling; Elysian, Minnesota; erect hotel.
- 02/10/81 James Beatty; Bozeman, Montana Territory; lease Soda Butte Springs.
- 07/04/81 C. R. Brodix; one year lease in Upper Fire Hole Basin for season of 1881; the exclusive use of the cabin in the Upper Basin for purpose of keeping hotel and supply accommodation; all necessary pasturage and fuel—applied for 30 year lease.
- 08/15/81 W. H. Thurston; Bismarck, Dakota Territory; erect three hotels.
- 08/31/81 Capt. E. Topping and Capt. E. Russell; Mandan, Dakota Territory; steamboat on Yellowstone Lake.
- 09/30/81 Ed Barker; Cable City, Montana Territory; establish zoological garden—Sept. 18, 1882. Supt. Conger recommended that it not be granted.
- 10/08/81 William Kirkwood; Virginia City, Montana Territory; establish hotel at Riverside station with 10 acres on either side of Madison River—Sept. 18, 1882. Supt. Conger recommended that it not be granted.
- 11/12/81 Richard Treven; Powder River, Wyoming Territory; "some privileges."
- 12/08/81 James Gourley and R. Rowland; Bozeman, Montana Territory; hotel site, right of pasturage and hay meadow at the Grand Falls of the Yellowstone—30 year lease.
- 02/21/82 W. A. Burleigh; Miles City, Montana Territory; Steamboat on Yellowstone Lake—Sept. 19, 1882 Supt. Conger recommends not to grant lease.
- 03/27/82 George W. Monroe; Bozeman, Montana Territory; sanitorium or hospital at Soda Butte Springs—recommended by Congressman M. Maginnis of Montana—Sept. 18, 1882. Supt. Conger recommended that the lease be granted.
- 04/15/82 Davis and Odell; Minneapolis, Minnesota;

- erect the National Park Hotel and Excursion Company.
- 05/12/82 H. B. Allen; Waterloo, Iowa; steamboat on Yellowstone Lake.
- 09/02/82 H. Avery; Minneapolis; transportation company to carry passengers and guides.
- 09/08/82 Thomas Carroll; Billings, Montana Territory; wants two acres for office and residence—currently with Northern Pacific Railroad.
- 01/15/83 F. Hess; Fort Dodge, Iowa; erect observatory provided with telescopes, microscopes etc. for the edification and instruction of visitors; permission to plant 1,000 trees of seven species and grading an avenue, walks and drives; erecting 50 tablets of suitable dimensions delineating in base relief one century of the worlds history; erection of 12 groups of statuary typical of the 12 signs and constellations of the Lodices with their attending star groups with life-sized forms of man and beast according to astronomy of primeval man; erection of building dedicated to the arts, sciences and religion of the future.
- 03/01/83 P. Schuyler; Minnesota; 40 acres for gardening.03/03/83 Bassett Brothers; erect hotel at either Upper Geyser Basin or other points.
- 03/07/83 R. Blakely; St. Paul, Minnesota; lease land 1,320 feet from Yellowstone Park Improvement Company land at Lower Falls of Yellowstone for tents, stables, etc.
- 03/07/83 George Hamilton; Washington, D.C.; lease land 1,320 feet from Yellowstone Park Improvement Company land at Old Faithful or tents, stables, etc.
- 03/07/83 Thomas Sedgwick; Washington, D.C.; land adjoining the Yellowstone Park Improvement Company land one mile east of western boundary on south side of Madison River for stables, tents, etc.
- 03/07/83 S. Mailes, Washington, D.C.; land adjoining Yellowstone Park Improvement Company land at Lake outlet for stables, tents, etc.
- 03/07/83 John Williams; Mankato, Minnesota; land adjoining Yellowstone Park Improvement Company land 1,320 feet from Soda Butte Springs for stables, tents, etc.
- 03/12/83 Edward Voigt; Denver, Colorado; one or two acres for hotel.
- 03/15/83 W. S. Libby; Fairbault, Minnesota; ten acres.
- 04/15/83 H. J. Hoppe; Bozeman, Mt. T.; keeping dairy cows near mouth of Gardner River within Park to supply Govt. and hotel.
- 07/23/83 Warren Pendleton; Bozeman, Mt. T.; erect 4 small buildings at Mammoth, Upper Geyser Basin, Lake and at the Falls to sell newspapers,

- fruit, confectionery and periodicals.
- 08/31/83 H. Allen; Waterloo, Iowa; steamboats.
- 09/25/83 W. Hall; Jefferson, Iowa; open a saloon.
- 10/20/83 David Barmore; steamboat and other watercraft.
- 11/22/83 G. O. Eaton, Republic Mining Co. Cooke City, Montana Territory; 150 acres of meadow land at bottom of East Fork of Yellowstone and 150 acres of meadowland on or near Slough Creek for raising and cutting hay; would include right to irrigate with ditches. Conger was in favor of granting lease.
- 12/04/83 Silas McMinn, Pierce Folk and Harry Keefer; coal mine on Mt. Everts.
- 12/17/83 S. W. Downey; Laramie City, Wyoming; hotel sites.
- 12/19/83 P. H. Fisher; Livingston, Montana; ten acres on Clark's Fork mine roads for hotel purposes.
- 01/14/84 P. Fisher; Livingston, Montana; erect hotel.
- 01/15/84 John Potter; Hamilton, Montana; lease of land.
- 01/31/84 Oscar Swanson and J. Clark; each to build cottage in park their family's exclusive use; Supt. Conger endorsed the request based on his not wanting land that the Govt. would need. They had been appointed deputy U.S. Marshals.
- 02/05/84 J. W. Ponsford and J. S. Sanborn; Bozeman, Montana; ten acres for keeping a "stopping place" for travelers one mile west of Baronett's Bridge at junction of road to Clark's Fork and Mount Washburn.
- 06/09/84 Robt. Lilley; Cooke City, Montana; graze horses.
 02/16/84 L. Pickering; Mammoth Hot Springs; construct lime kilns at Mammoth Hot Springs from lime-stone ledges between Mammoth Hot Springs and the Limestone ledges for a distance of about 3 miles; he had already burned lime and supplied the Park Improvement Company with about six thousand bushels.
- 03/07/84 H. G. Hamer; Bozeman, Montana; permission to transport tourist through park.
- 03/20/84 James McDowell; Helena Montana; exclusive privilege of cutting hay on Yellowstone and its tributaries near Soda Butte; right to erect hotel at Soda Butte; denied by Teller.
- 03/25/84 Thomas J. Farrell; Virginia City, Montana; permission to continue taking tourist parties into Park and permission to build stable and corrals.
- 04/01/84 Christian Ames; Ennis, Montana; permission to erects corral in Upper Geyser Basin for horses.
- 04/04/84 H. E. Klamer; lease of two acres at Mammoth Hot Springs for ten years in order to erect buildings to be used as livery stable and feed store. Secretary Teller deemed it "not advisable at the time."
- 04/04/84 E. S. Topping; Bozeman, Montana; privilege of

navigating on Yellowstone Lake. 06/15/84 W. J. Harber; Fort Benton, Montana; small plea-05/01/84 Eleanor McGowan; York, Pennsylvania; constructing operating telegraph between Cinnabar 06/23/84 and Clark's Fork for ten years—permission was given on May 1, 1884 by Secretary of Interior 07/26/84 05/15/84 Warren Pendleton; Bozeman, Montana; ten year lease for newsstand and stand for fruits, confectionery, cigars, tobacco, and smoked goods in 11/24/84 the Lower Geyser Basin on the north side of the

East Fork of the Fire Hole River opposite the

government buildings.

sure steam launch on Yellowstone Lake. William Lindstrom; Mammoth Hot Springs, Wyoming Territory; erect tent at Mammoth Hot Springs to sell articles of interest to public. Bassett Brother; Beaver Canyon, Idaho; put up office, stable and cut about 5 tons of hay at Fire Hole Basin for passenger business. J. H. Baldwin; New York City; put boats on Yellowstone Lake, build small house for supplies. 11/20/84 Thomas Cavanaugh; Mammoth Hot Springs; erection of hotel and transportation service.

Appendix B

Some Early Special Permits and Franchises

- 1878 M. J. Beattie permit to pasture 300 cattle on Blacktail Deer Plateau.
- 1879 H. W. Comfort and wife drove 400 head of cattle with a team and trail wagon through the park on their route from Oregon via Henrys Lake to the Lower Yellowstone Valley; the payment was to give two milk cows to the authorities at Mammoth for their use.
- C. J. Baronett and J. Pritchard to rebuild Baronett Bridge.
- John McKenna of Deadwood, South Dakota permit to construct fencing to protect livestock at Soda Butte.
- Unnamed party given permit to make 200,000 bricks from natural clays, to mine coal on Mt.
 Everts and to harvest timber for building and for fuel.
 - H. J. Hoppe given permit to operate dairy to supply government employees and hotels.
 - George Wakefield and Charles Hoffman permit to carry mail from Livingston, Montana, to Cooke City, Montana, via Mammoth Hot Springs.
 - Silas McMinn permit to mine coal on Mt. Everts.
 - Henry Klamer permit to:
 - 1. provide fresh meat to camps and hotels.
 - 2. slaughter beef cattle.
 - 3. operate dairy herd.
- 1885 Elwood "Billy" Hofer permit to operate a stable and corral for horses at Mammoth.
 - Wakefield & Hoffman lease to erect house, stables and corrals at Geyser Basin, at Lake and at the Grand Canyon of the Yellowstone.
 - Wakefield & Hoffman permit to cut, stack, and sell hay to travelers with teams and to provide for their own use at their facilities.
 - Wakefield & Hoffman permit to operate stables and corrals at Mammoth Hot Springs.
 - Bassett Brothers permit to operate stables and corrals at Lower Geyser Basin.
 - Melson Caitlin permit to operate stables and corrals at Mammoth Hot Springs.
 - James A. Clark license to operate a stable and blacksmith shop near Capitol Hill at Mammoth Hot Springs.
- Mrs. M. A. Baronett, Postmistress, permit to sell photographic views of Yellowstone, stationery and small curio items in Post Office building.

- Mrs. Jennie Henderson Dewing replaced Mrs. Baronett as postmistress and given permit to continue selling items.
- 1890 Uncle Tom Richardson permit to operate a ferry across Yellowstone River, a mile above the Upper Falls and to operate a carriage ride to the canyon or an all day tour into canyon via the "Uncle Tom Trail."
- Yellowstone Lake Boat Co. permit showing tourists corralled buffalo and mountain sheep on Dot Island
- Yellowstone Park Association permitted to establish dairy on Upper Swan Lake Flats-Clematis
 Gulch dairy closed due to unsanitary drain off from the dairy corrals and barns into the living areas at Mammoth.
- Gardiner, Montana, received permission to receive sufficient water from Gardiner River one mile above the new arch via ditch to supply a hydroelectric plant for the residents of Gardiner, Montana.
- 1916 Robert J. McKay license to use trucks and trailers for transporting ore and supplies between Gardiner and Cooke City.
 - Nels Solderholm license to operate a 2-ton truck to carry employees and supplies to Cooke City mines.
 - G. L. Tanger license to use motor equipment for mining operations between Gardiner and Cooke City.
- 1917 Jim Parker and Jay Wilcox permit to cultivate between and 4 acres of land between a mile and two miles up the Yellowstone River in Turkey Pen Pass in order to raise potatoes for sale to passing travelers. It operated for two seasons.
- 1918 The hotel company's Chinese gardener planted vegetables in garden two miles up Gardner River from Gardiner. Late in year, Mr. George Whittaker took over the garden and marketed the vegetables at his store in Mammoth Hot Springs.
- 1920 Robert J. McKay permit to build metal road from Gardiner to Cooke City.
- Frank B. Tolhurst of Livingston, Montana, given first mail contract in Yellowstone National Park to deliver mail from main post office at Mammoth to all of the upper park areas (contract discontinued in 1928).

Appendix C

The following list indicates the kinds of items brought into Yellowstone National Park. The list should not be considered inclusive, but it reflects items found listed in documents used in the preparation of this volume. The items are listed as food, furnishings, crockery and other kitchen items, transportation, and miscellaneous. A notation is made if a specific item was identified in a specific area.

Specific major or significant items found in specific buildings or structures are also listed.

Food

Wine—quarts and pints of Medoc, St. Julien, Pontet 1890 Canet, Chateau la Rose, Haut Sauterne, Chateau Yquem, Latour Blanche

Peaches—canned—Bear brand 1891 (used at Trout Creek Lunch Station)

Sliced Lemon Cling Peaches, peeled Apricots, Green 1891 Gage Plums, White and Black Royal Anne Cherries, Bartlett Pears, Yellow Crawford Peaches, Muscat Alexandria (White) Grapes (JF Orchards and Cannery—J.H. Fliekinger's San Jose, California)

Kelly coffee/McCormick coffee 1891

Sauternes, Reislings, Heirstimer and Laubenheiners 1893 wines

Furnishings

Porcelain rosettes (ceiling blocks)—25 1891 (Northwest Thomson-Houston Electric Co., St. Paul, Minn.)

Crockery and other Kitchen Items

Round Pattern Wash-bowls, Chambers, Ewers and Slop Jars $1890\,$

Octagon Ewers and Wash-bowls

The following information is from "Hotels and Machinery Record," Yellowstone Park Company Papers—Box 151, Yellowstone National Park Archives.

Маммотн Нотел—1883

Kitchen

1 10' steam table

1 N. M. Simmons range—Chicago

1 copper stock boiler

1 vegetable boiler

1 dish warmer

2 ten gallon urns; 1 thirteen gallon urn

1 B.D & Co. bake oven

1 steel broiler—March 31, 1893

1 #3 Cooley Creamer, C.C. & G. Co. Michigan

1 Kohler & Henricks refrigerator—May 9, 1896

Water Supply

1 Reservoir tank 8' x 16'—installed May 1892

1 Reservoir tank 5' x 5' (wood) installed March 1896

Engine Room

1 Erie Cast Iron Works 12' x 54" boiler

1 Return tank

1 Hot Water tank

1 No. 4 Blake pump (No. 20329)

1 50HP Ideal 10' x 10' engine June 1890—moved 1903

1 Nagle engine

1 Weston dynamo U.S. Electric Lighting Co.

1 Armature—June 1892

1 Metropolitan #8 Automatic Injector Crane—April 1893

1 Locomotive Boiler, Northern Pacific RR Co. March 1895

1 Edison 15 Kilowatt Shunt wound. 125 volt dynamo Brush Electric Co. June 1896

Laundry

1 50" Empire mangle—July 1889

1 Dolph wringer—transferred to Canyon Hotel ca. 1900

1 Empire Mach. Co. shirt ironer

1 gas machine

1 reg. wooden washer April 1900

1 Troy Laundry Manufacturing Co. triple mangle 1905

1 Shirt Starcher

1 baby ironer gasoline 1902

1 smoothing machine 1905

1 hand sharper Clark & Hoff 1906

1 steam puffer improved design 1906

1 iron framer washer 1906

2 folding tables 1906

1 auto seam dispenser 1906

1 neck band ironer 1905

COTTAGE HOTEL

Kitchen

1 W. H. & Co. Broiler

1 52 gallon water heater

1 B. D. & Co. Bake oven

1 Walterstoff-Haskell Commander Steel range transferred from Norris Hotel 1900

Water Supply

1 hot water heater 1905

Laundry

1 Chicago Nickel Works #4 Laundry equipment

1 stationary tub 1905

1 wood tub 1906

Norris Hotel

1 upright boiler—sold 1906

1 No. 4 Blake pump

1 plain Walterstoff-Haskell steel range

1 Jorsting & Schilling bake oven 1895

Tents at Norris 1893

6 24' x 24' Pyramid tents

1 20' x 20' tent

9 smaller tents

1 refrigerator 1899

18' x 8' reservoir 1896

1 Seneca Falls Force pump 1896

1 13 HP Robinson and Co. steel boiler 1891

1 No. 4 ¹/₄' Blake Steam Pump

FOUNTAIN HOTEL—1890-91

1 Dirbold fire proof safe 1898

1 steel boiler 1890

1 35 HP Ideal Engine 1890

2 Edison dynamo 1890

1 No. 2 Knowles pump 1893

1 hot water tank

1 return tank 1891

1 water heater 1904

2 steam gauges

1 Walterstoff-Haskell 12' 3-hole range

1 22' broiler

1 stock boiler

1 vegetable boiler

1 steam table

1 15 gallon coffee urn

1 10 gallon tea urn

1 No. 7 Waslterstoff-Haskell bake oven 1893

1 Cooley Creamer 1895

1 refrigerator 1891

1 broiler 1897

1 Walterstoff-Haskell laundry stove 1893

1 hand mangle

1 gasoline heated hand mangle 1904

2 wood tubs 1906

UPPER GEYSER BASIN HOTEL— 1885–1886 (BURNED 1894)

1 No. 5 Sikver & Demming Hydraulic ram

1 No. 9 Simonds 6' Range

1 20" Bramhall & Dran. broiler

1 bake oven

1 Walterstoff-Haskell iron laundry stove 1893

HOTEL—UPPER BASIN—1895

1 No. 14 Walterstoff-Haskell range 1895

1 Laundry stove 1895

1 No. 6 Douglas Ram

1 6' x 8' water tank 1895

1 52 gallon water heater 1895

1 Cooley Creamer 1895

OLD FAITHFUL INN-1903-1904

1 Brownell Hot tubular boiler 1903

1 50 HP Ideal Engine

1 Gibbs-Stewart low speed engine

1 hot water heater 1903

1 Blake pump

1 3-roll mangle 1906

1 family ironer 1905

1 improved sectional dry room 1903

1 washer 1903

1 extractor 1903

3 sinks 1903

1 wood tub 1906

LAKE HOTEL—1889-1890

1 Derbold fireproof safe 1898

1 No. 7 Hydraulic ram 1889 (sent to commissary 1895)

1 No. 6 Hydraulic ram 1889 (transferred to W. Basin 1894)

1 No. 5 Hydraulic ram (sent to commissary in 1895)

1 Bramhall 12' range—hard coal changed to burn wood

1 copper stock boiler

1 Walterstoff-Haskell broiler

1 steam table

1 15 gallon coffee urn

1 10 gallon tea urn

1 bake oven

1 Cooley Creamer 1895

1 Crawford # Walker & Pratt Manufacturing Co. stove for winter keeper

1 refrigerator 1890

1 Hopkins upright steel boiler 1890

1 35 HP Ideal engine 1890

1 Edison Dynamo 1890

1 Robinson heater 1890

1 No. Knowles steam pump 1890

1 No. 4 Blake Pump 1893

1 Horizontal Tubular Boiler received from Northern Pacific RR Co. 1898

1 Cole & Maxwell Steam Pump received from Northern Pacific RR Co.

1 Dynamo 1900

1 Dynamo 1903

1 Brownell Horizontal Tubular Boiler 1904

1 water heater 1904

1 Walterstoff-Haskell iron laundry 1893

1 family iron 1905

1 wood washer 1903

1 wood tub 1906

1 small mangle 1906

GRAND CANON HOTEL—1889

Engine Room

1 Fireproof Derbold safe 1898

1 35 HP Ideal engine 1891

2 Edison dynamo 1890

1 hot water heater 1889

Pumping Station

1 13 HP upright steel boiler 1891

1 duplex Blake pump 1891

1 Seneca Falls pump 1891

2 steam gauges

Kitchen

1 Bramhall Dran & Co. 3-hole range

1 steam table

1 boiler

1 Bramhall Dran & Co. iron stock boiler

1 vegetable boiler

1 15 gallon coffee urn

1 10 gallon tea urn

1 Cooley Creamer 1890

1 refrigerator 1890

1 oven 1896

Laundry

1 iron laundry stove 1893

1 steam trap 1892

1 hand mangle 1896

1 extractor from old Mammoth Hotel

1 washer 1896

1 centrifugal wringer 1904

a triplex mangle 1905

Тнимв

1 No. 2 Army Range

3 large Pyramid tents

12 smaller tents

2 8' x 9' wood tanks 1898

1 60' wood tower

1 syphon pump 1898

1 log ice house 16' x 40' x 10' with shingle roof 1898

1 2 HP gasoline engine

1 engine house in wind mill tower 1906

SAW MILL MACHINERY

At Saw Mill

18' x 12' Gibbs & Stewart steam engine

1 8/16 Buckeye steam engine

1 log carriage and saw frame

1 42' x 10' Erie City Iron Works Boiler (38-3" flues)

1 condenser

375 ft. 11/2" pipe

At Fountain Hotel

1 Tompkins Champion planer & edger 1889

1 rip saw & frame 1889 transferred to Mammoth 1893

1 10 HP Batavia portable boiler and engine transferred to Mammoth 1893

1 wood saw and frame—sent to Mammoth and rebuilt

1 American Insertes tooth saw with No. 2 teeth 1889

At Grand Canon

1 siding resaw 1890

At Mammoth

1 upright pump transferred to Norris 1892

1 70 HP Batavia portable boiler and engine

1 Gibbs & Stewart steam engine transferred to Old Faithful Inn

1 Buckeye steam engine

1 wood saw frame (rebuilt—from Fountain Hotel)

1 rip saw and frame 1889

Appendix D

Concession Buildings Removed

This incomplete list of removed concession buildings does not include the numerous individual cabins removed from the developed areas throughout the park's history, but it does list numerous types of buildings. Most of these buildings were removed as a part of the National Park Service Mission 66 program. Note that some buildings, particularly cabins, are noted as removed to other park locations. The Old Faithful cabins that were relocated post-1983 are also listed.

	~	
Mamn	MOTH HOT SPRINGS	
Bldg. No. 2035	Cottage Hotel	1964
Bldg. No. 2037	Gardener's cabin	N.D.
Bldg. No. 2041	Garage	
Bldg. No. 2046	Garage	
Bldg. No. 2047	Oil house	
Bldg. No. 2048	Bus shed	
Bldg. No. 2049	Repair shop	
Bldg. No. 2050	Storage & wash rack	
Bldg. No. 2052	Haynes Picture Shop	
Bldg. No. 2059	Cafeteria and dormitory	
Bldg. No. 2062	Grocery store and quarters	
Bldg. No. 2065	Stationary engineer quarters	
Bldg. No. 2264	Housekeeping cabin office	
Bldg. No. 2265	Comfort station	
Bldg. No. 2266	Comfort station	
Bldg. No. 2267	Comfort station	
Bldg. No. 2268	Wood storage	
Bldg. Nos. 6367–6377	Tourist cabins	

Unnumbered bldgs.

- 131 Mammoth campers' cabins were removed.
- The cabin office, wood shed and 58 cabins moved to West Thumb
- 59 cabins moved to Old Faithful, 34 of which will be modernized.
- One restroom and one cabin sold and moved from park.
- Two cabins given to NPS and moved to Canyon for use of the Blister Rust Control Crew.
- 8 cabins were given to N. J. Olson Construction Company who removed 6 from the park and moved to two to Lake.
- Three restrooms and the utility lines were removed in 1958.

	CANYON
Bldg. No. 180	Pump house on Cascade Creek
Bldg. No. 182	Chlorine house behind Haynes
Bldg. No. 5703	Girls' dorm at hotel
Bldg. No. 5704	Storage and shops at hotel
Bldg. No. 5705	Canyon Hotel
Bldg. No. 5706	Root cellar at hotel
Bldg. No. 5707	Power house for Caretaker's quarters

· ·	
Bldg. No. 5708	Garage
Bldg. No. 5709	Dry cleaning shop at hotel
Bldg. No. 5721	Stable at lodge
Bldg. No. 5722	Carpenter shop at lodge
Bldg. No. 5723	Employee dormitory at lodge
Bldg. No. 5724	Employee dormitory at lodge
Bldg. No. 5725–5731	7 similar dormitories at lodge
Bldg. No. 5732	Temporary, portable dormitory
Bldg. No. 5733	Haynes Picture Shop
Bldg. No. 5734	Saddle shop and storage
Bldg. No. 5735	Pipe shop at lodge
Bldg. No. 5736	Bath house at lodge
Bldg. No. 5737	Storage at lodge
Bldg. No. 5738	Club house at lodge
Bldg. No. 5739	Winterkeeper's quarters at lodge
Bldg. No. 5740	Pryor's store
Bldg. No. 5741	Garage, storage, power plant at
Ç	Pryor's
Bldg. No. 5742	Dorm and mess hall at Pryor's Store
Bldg. No. 5743	Service station at Pryor's Store
Bldg. No. 5744	Horse stable at lodge 1958
Bldg. No. 5745	Nurse's dispensary at lodge
Bldg. No. 5746	Pump house at lodge
Bldg. No. 5747	Lodge manager's quarters
Bldg. No. 5748	Dormitory and linen room at lodge
Bldg. No. 5749	Chlorine house at lodge
Bldg. No. 5750	Lodge—dining room, cabin office
Bldg. No. 5751–5752	Comfort station
Bldg. No. 5753	Ironing room at lodge
Bldg. No. 5754	Temporary bathhouse at lodge
Bldg. No. 5755	Fire hose shelter at lodge
Bldg. No. 5902	Cafeteria & housekeeper's quarters
Bldg. No. 5903	Boiler room, toilets, laundry
B14g. 110. 5705	power house; cafeteria
Bldg. No. 5904	Shed
Bldg. No. 6072	Transportation metal shed
Bldg. No. 6073–6075	Bunkhouses constructed in "U"
Diag. 110. 0073 0073	around wash house
Bldg. No. 6076	Wash room
Bldg. No. 6077	Wash house
Bldg. No. 6078–6079	Quarters
Bldg. No. 6080	Shop
Bldg. No. 6081	Bus storage
Bldg. No. 6082	Horse barn
Bldg. No. 6082	Gasoline pump house
Bldg. No. 6084	Saddle horse barn
Bldg. No. 6085	Bus drivers' dormitory
Bldg. No. 6088	"Club House" cabin
Diag. 140. 0000	Ciuo House Caoili
Hamanah anad bld	

Unnumbered bldgs.

• Old Hamilton general store 1958

- adjacent service station and underground storage facilities.
- Two-story dormitory moved to Old Faithful for use of the Old Faithful Service Station employees.
- 52 buildings at the old Canyon Lodge development moved to other locations in the park—45 cabins were moved to West Thumb, 2 cabins to Lake, 1 cabin to Fishing Bridge, and 3 to Roosevelt Lodge. The carpenter shop and horse stalls were moved to Roosevelt Lodge.
- 28 other structures from the lodge area were removed from the site in 1959.

	Tower Fall
Bldg. No. 6101	Store and quarters
Bldg. No. 6102	Cellar in hill
Bldg. No. 6103	Power house
-	

	FISHING BRIDGE
Bldg. No. 5100	Cafeteria
Bldg. No. 5103	Split wood sales
Bldg. No. 5507	Boathouse on bank-store
Bldg. No. 5508	Boathouse rental

	OLD FAITHFUL
Bldg. No 151	Bath house
Bldg. No. 157	Chlorine house No. 1 at old sewer
	collecting tank, Firehole River
Bldg. No. 2317	Apartment house
Bldg. No. 2318	Mess house
Bldg. No. 2320	Drivers' bunkhouse
Bldg. No. 2321	Garage compound
Bldg. No. 2322	Horse barn
Bldg. No. 2324	Housekeeping headquarters 1955

OLD	FAITHFUL CAMP
Bldg. No. 2323	Cafeteria 1980
Bldg. No. 2328	Split wood shed
Bldg. No. 2329	Garage
Bldg. No. 2832–2864	33 cabins—east of bus compound
Bldg. No. 2777	Warehouse-Hamilton Stores, Inc.
Bldg. No. 2778	Hose house east of laundry
Bldg. No. 2779	Cleaning room

- Bldgs. Nos. 7463, 7466, 7467, 7523, 7529, 7531, 7532, 7534, 7456, 7457, and 7567 were relocated to the Roosevelt Lodge area—post-1983.
- Bldgs. Nos. 7473, 7568, and 7569 were relocated to the Old Faithful Maintenance Yard—post-1983.
- Bldgs. Nos. 7476, 7477, 7546, 7547, 7548, 7549, 7550, 7551, 7552, 7553, 7554, and 7592 were relocated to Grant Village—post-1983.
- Bldg. No. 7527 relocated to Indian Creek Campground post-1983.
- Bldg. No. 7537 relocated to Mammoth Corral—post-1983
- Bldg. No. 7478 relocated to Canyon—post-1983.

	West Thumb
Bldg. No. 3103	Hamilton—bunkhouse
Bldg. No. 3109	Hamilton—bunkhouse
Bldg. No. 3104	Hamilton—storage shed
Bldg. No. 3107	Cafeteria/dormitory
Bldg. No. 3108	Laundry, shower, recreation bldg.
Bldg. No. 3109	Boathouse and bunkhouse
Bldg. No. 3110	Cabin office
Bldg. No. 3111	Linen room
Bldg. No. 3112	Wood/fuel shed
	T

	LAKE
Bldg. No. 4056	Lumber storage at lodge
Bldg. No. 4057	Quarters at lodge
Bldg. No. 4058	Dormitory at lodge
Bldg. No. 4060	Employees' laundry at lodge
Bldg. No. 4061	Bunkhouse "Duck Inn" at lodge
Bldg. No. 4302	Ice house at hotel
Bldg. No. 4304	Mess house at hotel 1976
Bldg. No. 4305	Bunkhouse at hotel 1980
Bldg. No. 4306	Bunkhouse at hotel—Unit B 1982
Bldg. No. 4308	Bunkhouse at hotel—Unit C 1982
Bldg. No. 4307	Recreation room 1980
Bldg. No. 4315	Pump house at hotel 1980

RIVERSIDE

Bldg. No. 2276	Pump house over a well
Bldg. No. 2277	Bus repair garage
Bldg. No. 2278	Employees' bunkhouse
Bldg. No. 2279	Winter keeper's residence
Bldg. No. 2280	Mess house
Bldg. No. 2281	Power house
Bldg. No. 2282	Walk-in cooler
Bldg. No. 2283	Storage
Bldg. No. 2284	Wood or chicken shed
Bldg. No. 2285	Warehouse behind old granary
Bldg. No. 2286	Storage shed
Bldg. No. 2287	Bunkhouse—old dorm
Bldg. No. 2288	Woman's dormitory
Bldg. No. 2289	Bunkhouse No. 2 next to garage
Bldg. No. 2290	Old granary—warehouse
Bldg. No. 2291	Employees' residence
Bldg. No. 2292	Pump house on Madison River

	Norris Junction	
Bldg. No. 2274	Wood shed and toilets	
Bldg. No. 2275	Storage shed	

Some of the information relating to the removal of the buildings in 1958–1959 comes from a memorandum to the Regional Director from Superintendent Lemuel Garrison, January 23, 1959. This document, which formerly was stored in the National Archives and Records Center, Denver, Colorado, in Box D158–D3415—Buildings (General) 1959–1960) can now be found in the park archives.

Appendix E

Timeline of Concessioners in Yellowstone National Park

1871	James McCartney hotel and bathhouse in Clematis Gulch at Mammoth. Matthew McGuirk bathhouse near Mammoth at Boiling River.	1922 1923	mit to build and operate filling station at Canyon near George Whittaker's store. Store, residence and filling station at Lake outlet. Small store at Old Faithful Campground.
1872	C. J. Baronett—bridge over Yellowstone River . Alfred Hawkes granted concession to build and		Received new 10 year lease from NPS after sur- rendering and cancelling the 1919 contract.
	operate hotel at Lower Geyser Basin.	1924	Store at West Thumb and Fishing Bridge.
1875	Captain E. S. Topping granted temporary permit to operate boat on Yellowstone Lake—the <i>Topping</i> .	1925	Addition to Old Faithful store. Enlarged store at Fishing Bridge.
1878	McGuirk surrendered is property to government.		Enlarged store at Old Faithful Campground.
1879 1881	McCartney's log hotel closed.	1927 1931	Built filling station at Old Faithful. Received 20 year contract and surrendering and
1899	McGuirk paid \$1,000 by U.S. Government for	1931	cancelling the earlier 1923 contract. Now called
	property. McCartney paid \$3,000 by U.S. Government for	1933	Yellowstone General Stores. (Delaware North). Secured the bathhouse and swimming pool con-
1915	property. McCartney's old hotel burned on December 4.	1934	cession from Henry Brothers at Old Faithful. Remodeled and enlarged swimming pool at Old
	JOHN YANCEY	1947	Faithful. Yellowstone Park Service Stations organized with
1882	John Yancey erected mail station in Pleasant Valley .	1)41	Trevor Povah as General Manager. It a was joint operation with between Hamilton Stores, Inc. and
1884	John Yancey erected hotel in Pleasant Valley.		YP Company.
1886	Received lease of 10 acres in Pleasant Valley.	1951	Swimming pool and bathhouse at Old Faithful razed.
	HENRY KLAMER—CHARLES A. HAMILTON—	1953	Purchased Pryor Stores, Inc. at Mammoth and
1002	HAMILTON STORES INC.	1057	Canyon.
1882	Given permit to provide meat to camps and ho-	1957	Canyon. Charles A. Hamilton died.
1882		1957	•
	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin.	1957 1880	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at
1882	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin. Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson,		Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole.
	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin.		Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris.
1885	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin. Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson,	1880	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel.
1885 1908 1897	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin. Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin.	1880 1884 1885	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease.
1885 1908	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin. Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin. Henry Klamer died August 1.	1880 1884 1885 1886	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built.
1885 1908 1897	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA.
1885 1908 1897 1914	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13.	1880 1884 1885 1886	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government.
1885 1908 1897	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA.
1885 1908 1897 1914	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13. Charles A. Hamilton bought the Klamer Store at Old Faithful . Subleased Boat Co. store at Lake outlet from YP	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888 1891	George Marshall—Hotel Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government. Hotel burned. Cottages still standing.
1885 1908 1897 1914 1915 1917	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13. Charles A. Hamilton bought the Klamer Store at Old Faithful . Subleased Boat Co. store at Lake outlet from YP Co.	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888 1891 1895	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government. Hotel burned. Cottages still standing.
1885 1908 1897 1914 1915 1917 1919	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13. Charles A. Hamilton bought the Klamer Store at Old Faithful . Subleased Boat Co. store at Lake outlet from YP Co. Bought the Lake outlet store from YP Co. Received 10 year contract.	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888 1891	George Marshall—Hotel Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government. Hotel burned. Cottages still standing.
1885 1908 1897 1914 1915 1917	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13. Charles A. Hamilton bought the Klamer Store at Old Faithful . Subleased Boat Co. store at Lake outlet from YP Co. Bought the Lake outlet store from YP Co. Received 10 year contract. New store at Lake outlet .	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888 1891 1895	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government. Hotel burned. Cottages still standing. HENDERSON AND LYALL Co. Held post office lease—Mammoth. Sold to George Whittaker.
1885 1908 1897 1914 1915 1917 1919	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13. Charles A. Hamilton bought the Klamer Store at Old Faithful . Subleased Boat Co. store at Lake outlet from YP Co. Bought the Lake outlet store from YP Co. Received 10 year contract. New store at Lake outlet . Transportation company and stores were granted	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888 1891 1895	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government. Hotel burned. Cottages still standing. HENDERSON AND LYALL CO. Held post office lease—Mammoth. Sold to George Whittaker.
1885 1908 1897 1914 1915 1917 1919	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13. Charles A. Hamilton bought the Klamer Store at Old Faithful . Subleased Boat Co. store at Lake outlet from YP Co. Bought the Lake outlet store from YP Co. Received 10 year contract. New store at Lake outlet .	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888 1891 1895	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government. Hotel burned. Cottages still standing. HENDERSON AND LYALL Co. Held post office lease—Mammoth. Sold to George Whittaker.
1885 1908 1897 1914 1915 1917 1919	Given permit to provide meat to camps and hotels, to pasture beef cattle, to slaughter beef cattle, to operate a dairy herd and to operate a general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Operated with father-in-law, George Henderson, the Firehole Hotel at Lower Geyser Basin. Contract—10 year contract from June 1, 1907. Contract—built general store at Upper Geyser Basin . Henry Klamer died August 1. Mary Klamer received 3 year contract beginning August 13. Charles A. Hamilton bought the Klamer Store at Old Faithful . Subleased Boat Co. store at Lake outlet from YP Co. Bought the Lake outlet store from YP Co. Received 10 year contract. New store at Lake outlet . Transportation company and stores were granted joint to build and operate filling stations at Mam -	1880 1884 1885 1886 1888 1891 1895	Charles A. Hamilton died. GEORGE MARSHALL—HOTEL Verbal permission—erected Marshall House at Firehole. Erected mail stations at Riverside and Norris. 1/2 assigned to G. L. Henderson; operated under the name of Firehole Hotel. Bldgs. out on lease—applied for change of lease. Two cottages built. Contract rewarded by YPA. Vacated—Supt. tired to secure for Government. Hotel burned. Cottages still standing. HENDERSON AND LYALL CO. Held post office lease—Mammoth. Sold to George Whittaker. GEORGE WHITTAKER Scout and guide until 1911.

1914	Extensive enlargement of Post Office Store— Mammoth.		YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK IMPROVEMENT COMPANY
1917	Received permit to build and operate store at Can- yon.	1882	Yellowstone Park Improvement Co. received lease on Dec. 6.
1919	Received permission to build new log store at Canyon.	1883	Began construction of Mammoth Hotel . Erected tent hotels at Lower Geyser Basin , Up -
1920	Completed log store at Canyon .		per Geyser Basin and Canyon.
1922	Made additions to log store at Canyon .	1884	C. T. Hobart built hotel on lease near junction of
1923	Received new 10 year lease.	1004	Nez Perce Creek and Firehole River—near
1924	Established a store/delicatessen at Mammoth		Marshall House.
1/27	Auto Camp.		Granted leases for 7 acre sites at Mammoth , Nor-
	Enlarged store at Canyon .		ris, Canyon, Lake for construction of hotels.
1925	Enlarged the summer branch store in the Mam -	1885	C. T. Hobart and Robert Carpenter built a frame
1723	moth Auto Camp.	1005	hotel at Upper Geyser Basin (according to Wayne
1932	Sold business to Anna Pryor.		Replogle), on the site of the Old Faithful Inn.
1961	George Whittaker died at age 91 in Los Angeles.	1886	Yellowstone Park Association acquired leases of
1,01	George Wintaner area at age 91 in 2007 ingeres.	1000	the defunct Yellowstone National Park Improve-
	Jennie H. Ash		ment Company.
1895	Granted permit to operate a post office and build		Completed Mammoth Hotel.
10,0	general store at Mammoth.		Built a hotel at Norris and erected tent hotels at
	8		Lower Geyser Basin, Upper Geyser Basin and
	JENNIE HENDERSON, WALTER HENDERSON		Canyon. The Norris Hotel was destroyed by fire
	AND ALEXANDER LYALL		July 15, 1887.
1882	Granted permit to operate store at Mammoth.		Acquired the Marshall House and Hobart Ho-
	1 1		tel for \$6,000.
W	ALTER AND HELEN ANDERSON—COTTAGE HOTEL	1887	Built tent hotels at Fishing Bridge and at Norris
1885	Built Cottage Hotel at Mammoth.		to replace the hotel that burned.
1887	Enlarged Cottage Hotel at Mammoth.	1889	Granted license to place a naphtha launch on Yel-
1921	Cottage Hotel at Mammoth remodeled as men's		lowstone Lake.
	dorm.	1890	Canyon Hotel constructed.
1964	Cottage Hotel razed.		Began construction of Lake Hotel.
		1891	Fountain Hotel built north of Fountain Paint Pot
	OLE A. ANDERSON		Small hotel near Nez Perce Creek abandoned.
1889	Secured permit to operate store at Mammoth—	1892	Norris Tent Hotel burned in May and replaced
	Bottles of native colored sand and items coated		Lunch station was built at same location.
	with minerals from hot springs.	1893	Hobart's hotel at Old Faithful destroyed by fire
1908	The Park Curio Shop at Mammoth bought out	1894	Temporary hotel built at Old Faithful.
	Ole Anderson.	1895	Old hotel at Fountain Flat razed and replaced by
			new building. Marshall House and other struc-
	Anna Pryor & Elizabeth Trischman—		tures in vicinity of Nez Perce Creek razed.
	THE PARK CURIO SHOP	1896	Boat Co. granted permit to take tourists to view
1908	Took over Ole Anderson's store at Mammoth.		mountain sheep corralled on Dot Island.
1924	Granted permit to operate a delicatessen stand in	1897	YP Co. granted permit to establish dairy on Up -
	Mammoth Auto Camp and another stand for soft		per Swan Lake Flats—Clematis Gulch Dairy
	drinks on the Terraces near Devil's Kitchen at		closed due to unsanitary drain off from the dairy
	Mammoth.		corrals and barns into living areas of Mammoth.
1925	Enlarged the Devil's Kitchen stand.	1898	Company granted permit to operate lunch stations
	Granted permission to also operate general store		at Norris, Upper Geyser Basin, and Lake.
	at the Mammoth Auto Camp.	1900	New Norris Hotel built—faced Porcelain Basin.
1932	Received permission to purchase the Whittaker	1901	Additions and remodelling of Mammoth, Nor-
	stores at Mammoth and Canyon.		ris, Canyon, and Lake hotels. New Norris Ho-
1939	Closed Devil's Kitchen .		tel opened.
1948	Pryor & Trischman operated as Pryor Stores, Inc.	1902	Gardiner Depot opened after Northern Pacific ex-
1952	At end of season, bought by Hamilton Stores, Inc.		tended the line from Cinnabar to Gardiner.

1903 Began construction of **Old Faithful Inn.**Permit given to town of Gardiner to transfer sufficient water from Gardner River one mile above the gate to run a hydroelectric plant for use of "unincorporated citizens and residents of Gardiner."

1904 **Old Faithful Inn** opened.

Lake Hotel was enlarged.

William Nichols's first year at park as 2nd Lt. in 3rd U.S. Cavalry.

- 1905 William Nichols resigned from Army.
- 1907 William Nichols became secretary to H. W. Child, president of Yellowstone Park Association.
- 1910 Began the remodeling of **Canyon Hotel.**
- 1911 **Canyon Hotel** (third) was remodelled and enlarged.
- 1913 The south wing of **Old Faithful Inn** was completed. The north wing of **Mammoth Hotel** was completed.
 - Boys' dorm built at **Old Faithful.**The roof of the **Mammoth Hotal** was
- 1914 The roof of the **Mammoth Hotel** was removed and replaced with a flat roof in the spring.
- 1916 First auto camps established at **Old Faithful**, **Mammoth, Fishing Bridge, and Canyon.**
- 1917 Yellowstone Park Transportation Company motorized Yellowstone Park Camping Company takes over Wylie and Shaw & Powell operating camps at Mammoth, Riverside, Upper Geyser Basin, Lake outlet, Canyon and Tower Junction.

 The Mammoth Camp was established.

 Fountain Hotel and lunch stations at Norris and

West Thumb abandoned. YP Camping Co. given 20 year lease.

1918 Only **Mammoth, Upper Geyser Basin and Canyon** were opened.

Hotel Company employed Chinese gardener to grow vegetables two miles up **Gardner River** from Gardiner. Late in 1918, George Whittaker operated the garden and sold the produce through his store at **Mammoth.**

YP Camping Co. built office, dining hall and recreation room at **Mammoth** and built a laundry at **Old Faithful.**

1919 Began construction of Lake Lodge.

Yellowstone Park Camping Company changed name to Yellowstone Park Camps Co. owners were Walter White, Roe Emery, Howard Hays, and E. H. Moorman.

Began construction of girls' dorm at **Canyon**; completed in 1920.

Changed driveway at Mammoth Lodge.

Reopened Tower Junction camp as **Camp Roosevelt** (under Howard Hays).

Extended dining room at Old Faithful camp.

1920 **Lake Lodge** completed as well as several other buildings.

YP Camps Co. got permit to build concrete, open

air plunge at **Mammoth Lodge**, south of Capitol Hill. Laundry and dancehall built at **Mammoth Lodge**.

Lodge building and swimming pool built at **Camp Roosevelt.**

- 1921 YP Camps Co. built a new bakery and steam laundry at **Mammoth campground.**
 - Camps Co. received permit to build and operate a small swimming pool at **Roosevelt Camp.**

Built boys' dorm at **Canyon.** YP Camps Co. add dining room at **Canyon.**

1922 Auto camps established at Madison Junction, Tower Falls, and West Thumb. Lake Hotel enlarged.

South dining room built at Old Faithful Inn.

Dining hall at **Mammoth Lodge** enlarged.

YP Camps Co. built amusement hall at **Upper Geyser Basin.**

YP Camps Co. 1917 lease cancelled; received new 20 year lease.

Began construction of Sylvan Pass Lodge.

1923 William Nichols became Assistant to President H. W. Child.

Mammoth Lodge completed—\$70,000.

The kitchen at Lake Hotel was remodeled.

Wing added to Lake Hotel.

H. W. Child became president of YP Transportation, YP Hotel and YP Boat Co. YP Hotel, Transportation and Camps companies got new 20 year leases. The YP Boat Co. got new 1 year franchise.

1924 Yellowstone Park Camps Co. became The Yellowstone Park Lodge and Camps Co.

Hotel Co. given permit to operate the **Cody Road Lunch Station** at East Entrance.

YP Camps Co. extends kitchen and dining room at Lake and Mammoth; built lunch station at Sylvan Lake; built large lodge at Upper Geyser Basin—most of older central bldg. razed. Howard Hays sells YP Camps Co. to Vernon Goodwin.

Housekeeping cabins built at Canyon.

- 1925 **Canyon Lodge** built; began remodeling lobby and addition to dining room at Lake Lodge. Shop, engine room, bunkhouse, Rose, Hallin, and Hoffman residences begun and completed in 1926.
 - West wing of **Old Faithful Inn** constructed.
- 1926 Improvements made to **Lake Lodge** including enlargement.

YP Camps Co. given permission to operate a bathhouse and modern toilet at **Roosevelt Camp**. New kitchen and help's dining room built at **Old Faithful**.

Built new garage at Old Faithful.

Additions were made to the engine room at Lake.

Built a new boys' dorm at Canyon. Annex to cafeteria at Fishing Bridge built. Camps Co. given permission to operate lunch sta-1945 Sylvan Lodge at East Gate razed. tion at Fishing Bridge and West Thumb. 1946 Completed cabin construction at Lake. 1927 Old Faithful Inn's north wing completed. 1947 Lake Hotel reopened. Fountain Hotel razed. New laundry at Mammoth begun in 1947 and fin-Norris Hotel razed. ished in 1952. Garage built at Lake. Built an addition to laundry at Canyon. New laundry built at Old Faithful. Yellowstone Park Service Stations organized as a Began construction of Old Faithful Lodge recjoint venture with Hamilton Stores, Inc. with reation hall; Trevor Povah as General Manager. New lobby and dining room under construction at 1948 Engine room at Fishing Bridge built. Old Faithful Lodge. Remodeled kitchen at Roosevelt. Mammoth Lodge Laundry burned in November. 1950 Swimming pool at Mammoth Lodge razed. 1928 South dining room of Old Faithful Inn remod-1951 Mammoth Lodge bldg. razed. Laundry completed and cleaning plant built at eled in 1928. 1952 Girls' dormitory built at Old Faithful. Mammoth. Recreation Hall at Old Faithful Lodge built. The old garage (probably built in 1917) was gone Girls' dorm built at Lake. by this year. Fishing Bridge boat house built. 1957 Canyon Village opened in July; discontinued use YP Lodge & Camps Co. took over interest of YP of Canyon Lodge. Camps Co. in September. 1958 Mammoth camper cabins closed. 1959 1929 Built a modern laundry at Fishing Bridge. Canyon Hotel closed. 1930 1960 Canyon Hotel burned and razed. Canyon Hotel—began construction of large wing Swimming pool at Roosevelt Lodge razed. 1966 Yellowstone Park Company sold its franchise to Housekeeping cabins were added to Old Faith-General Host Corporation. ful, Canyon, Mammoth, Fishing Bridge, West Thumb, Lake and Roosevelt. **CAMPING CONCESSIONS** 1931 1880 William Nichols became president of the various A. W. Miles, nephew of General Nelson Miles, YP companies, including the boat company. became associated with permanent camping busi-1934 Canyon Hotel—construction of large wing comness in park. 1895 pleted. 12 parties granted license to conduct movable Cabins moved from Mammoth Lodge to Fishcamps. ing Bridge, West Thumb, and Camp Roosevelt. 1899 The following were granted temporary licenses to 1936 William Nichols became president of Yellowstone conduct camping parties: Park Company; Vernon Goodwin, who had been Marshall Brothers vice-president of the Yellowstone Park Lodge and A. W. & C. C. Chadbourne Camp Co., became vice-president of YP Company; E. C. Sandy The new company was a result of consolidation C. T. Smith of the different divisions. Frank Holm YP Co. given permit to build and operate a bath-Adam Gassert house at Fishing Bridge. W. J. Kupper Began tearing down Mammoth Hotel. Henry George 1937 Parts of old Mammoth Hotel razed and new ho-J. W. Taylor tel completed. H. M. Gore Gardiner commissary built. Capt. Amos Shaw 1938 Remodeled Old Faithful Lodge and Housekeep-R. H. Menefee ing Office. Completed in 1939. Alfred Lycan Made addition to Old Faithful cafeteria and W. S. Dixon housekeeping office. B. S. Thresher Construction of warehouse at **Gardiner** built. J. V. & S. S. Blankenship 1939 Fishing Bridge tourist cabins remodeled. B. S. Cobb 1940 Mammoth Lodge abandoned. Lake Hotel closed. Albert Hill Fishing Bridge tourist cabins remodeled. Ed Staley Began construction of cabins at **Lake** in 1941–42. John Dewing 1941 Lake Hotel and Mammoth Lodge closed. Frank Sebastian

	B. D. Sheffield		SHAW & POWELL CAMPING COMPANY
	George Reese	1900	Shaw & Powell replaced the Shaw Camping Co.
1900	The following were granted temporary licenses to	1913	Amos Shaw and J. D. Powell receive permit to
1700	conduct camping parties:	1713	transport visitors through park and provide per-
	A. W. & C. C. Chadbourne		manent camps at Willow Park, Gibbon Falls, Nez
	Charles Gassert		Perce Creek, Upper Geyser Basin, West Thumb,
	Marshall Brothers		Tower and Grand Canyon.
	Capt. Amos Shaw	1917	The business was terminated.
	J. D. Powell	1717	The Susmess was terminated.
	R. H. Menefee		F. JAY HAYNES—JACK HAYNES—
	Sarah Gassert		Haynes Stores, Inc.
	Alfred Lycan	1884	Built first studio on parade ground at Mammoth
	Frank Lyons		Received 10 year contract for Upper Geyser Ba-
	Ed Staley		sin and Mammoth.
	H. M. Gore	1885	Bought his Haynes Palace Studio Car.
	B. D. Sheffield	1886	Operated the Wakefield & Haynes Yellowstone
	Lionel Compiegne		Park Stage Co.
	J. & H. Blankenship	1890	Published first guide book.
	E. C. Sandy	1894	Received new 10 year contract for Mammoth and
	Frank Scott		Upper Geyser.
	B. S. Thresher	1895	Operated first stand in Grand Canyon Hotel.
1915	W. N. and O. M. Hefferlin granted permit to oper-	1897	Built Log Cabin Studio at Old Faithful.
	ate permanent camps under The Old Faithful	1903	Moved studio to north base of Capitol Hill at
	Camping Co.		Mammoth.
	¥¥7 ¥¥7 ¥¥7	1904	Received new 10 year contract for Mammoth.
1002	WILLIAM W. WYLIE	1905	Discontinued use of his Palace Studio Car.
1883	Wylie Camps created; granted permit to conduct camping business.	1910	Remodelled and bldg. built for finishing— Mammoth.
1890	Permit renewed to transport tourist through park	1911	Added rear wing to Log Shop at Old Faithful.
1070	and house them in permanent camps.	1912	Monida & Yellowstone Stage built lunch station
1896	Granted franchise to transport tourists through park	1712	at Tower Fall.
10,0	and house them in permanent camps.	1914	Received 3 year contract for Mammoth , Upper
	Wylie Permanent Camps created (four).		Geyser Basin, Grand Canyon—cancelled 1916.
1898	Granted concession to operate a lunch station be-	1916	J. E. Haynes took over from father, F. Jay Haynes.
	tween Norris and Lower Geyser Basin and near		Received new 1 year contract for Canyon, Upper
	West Thumb; and permanent camps at		Geyser Basin, and Mammoth.
	Apollinaris Spring, Upper Geyser Basin, Lake	1917	Established picture shop at Tower Junction .
	outlet and Grand Canyon.		Received new 10 year contract for all locations.
1905	W. W. Wylie sold company and retired.	1918	Stable converted into garage in utility area Mam-
1906	Business taken over—now known as The Wylie		moth.
	Permanent Camping Co. with A. W. Miles as presi-	1920	Built new shop at Mammoth —NE Capitol Hill.
	dent.		Converted stable/garage taken over by Yellow-
	Camp Roosevelt was built by A. W. Miles.		stone-Western Mammoth Utility area.
	Established Upper Swan Lake Valley Permanent	1921	F. Jay Haynes died.
1010	Camp and abandoned Apollinaris Camp.		Existing contracts surrendered and cancelled;
1912	Granted concession to extend lunch station ser-	1022	awarded new 15 year contract.
	vice to patrons entering East Entrance at Sylvan	1922	Stand established at Old Faithful Inn.
1913	Lake Camp. Abandanad Sulvan Laka Camp and actablished		Made an addition on the Tower Fall store.
1713	Abandoned Sylvan Lake Camp and established new camp at East Gate .		Small govt. bldg. used at Canyon —collapsed under winter snow; site surrendered.
1917	Wylie Permanent Camping Co. Transportation di-	1923	Shop at Mammoth enlarged with addition of wing.
1/1/	vision was consolidated with YP Transportation	1743	Stand at Lake Hotel established.
	Co.; thus only conducting camping business;		Log Shop at Canyon; 114' x 221' plat approved.
	merged with Yellowstone Park Camping Co.		Remodelled Log Shop at Old Faithful.
1920	Roosevelt Lodge built.	1924	Dormitory at Mammoth utility area built by
-	6 *** **		,

1926	Camps Co. in exchange for use of building south of Capitol Hill. First incorporated as Haynes Picture Shops, Inc. Existing contract cancelled; new 20 year contract	1949	West Thumb, Lake, Fishing Bridge, Canyon, Tower Fall, and Camp Roosevelt. Some are in lodges and hotels. Began operating as Haynes Studios, Inc.
	awarded.	1956	Canyon Lodge shop closed (in Upper Falls park-
1927	Shop at Mammoth converted into residence.		ing area).
	Shop built in Old Faithful Campground.	1957	Opened picture shop in main lodge bldg. at Can-
	Shop built in Mammoth Campground.		yon Village. Plans made to open a new shop be-
	Shop built in Fishing Bridge Campground.	1050	tween the Visitor Center and Hamilton Store.
	Stockroom and warehouse built in Mammoth util	1958	Shop in Canyon Hotel closed.
	ity area.	1959	Old Tower Fall store razed.
1029	Temporary dormitory placed on site at Tower Fall. Razed the studio at base of Capitol Hill at Mam-	1960 1961	New Tower Fall store opened. Old Canyon store (in parking area near Upper
1928	moth.	1901	Falls) razed.
1929	Photo finishing plant built at Mammoth utility area		Old Canyon store razed.
1,2,	New shop built at Mammoth.		Old Carry of Store Tazed.
	Remodelled shop—installed photo finishing		Monida & Yellowstone Stage Co.
	plant—Canyon.	1898	Partnership between W. W. Humphrey and F. Jay
1930	Plat approved for original site at Tower Fall (now		Haynes to operated from Monida, Montana, to park.
	utility area).	1900	Built a granary bldg. behind stable at Mammoth.
	Abandoned Log Shop at Old Faithful.	1904	Changed name to Monida & Yellowstone Stage Co.
	Erected temporary dormitory at Canyon .	1902	Built office at Tower Junction.
1932	Opened shop at West Thumb in temporary build-	1906	Hauled from Marysville, Idaho.
	ing relocated from Fishing Bridge to site north of	1913	Reincorporated as Yellowstone-Western Stage Co.
	Hamilton store.	1917	Terminated business when park became motorized;
	Opened temporary shop with dorm above at Tower		sold to YP Transportation Company.
	Fall parking area.		
1933	Moved the Log Cabin Studio to Old Faithful util-		CODY-SYLVAN PASS MOTOR CO.
	ity area for use as a finishing plant.	1916	First motor line in park. F. Jay Haynes, president;
1935	Opened general store in cabin at Camp Roosevelt.		line operated from Cody, Wyoming, to Yellow-
	Remodelled Log Cabin at Old Faithful .		stone Lake.
	The temporary dormitory at Tower Fall moved to		C W
1026	parking area as shop.	1004	George Wakefield
1936	Built new shop and power house Tower Fall parking area	1884 1885	Began his Concord Stagecoach line. Bought out Charles Hoffman's interest in stage-
	ing area. Old shop at Tower Fall converted into dormitory.	1003	coach line.
	Built new shop at Camp Roosevelt.		Given permit to erect horse stable and corrals at
	Made addition on the temporary bldg. store West		Geyser Basin, Lake, and Canyon.
	Thumb.		Given permit to cut and stack hay for sale to trav-
1937	Began operating as Haynes, Inc. (Minn. corpora-		elers with teams and to supply their own needs.
-,-,	tion).		Given permit to operate stables and corrals at
	Remodelled shop/removed finishing plant at Can-		Mammoth.
	yon.	1936	Sold his Yellowstone interests and retired.
1938	Moved to new site at triangle at Junction—West		
	Thumb.		Tex Holm
1939	Constructed warehouse in utility area at Old Faith-	1908	Was in partnership with Charles Gogel in Tex
	ful.		Holm Transportation company.
1941	Built new dormitory and power house (Diesel)—	1914	Ceased operations.
	Tower Fall.	1945	Tex Holm died.
	Built cellar in hill Tower Fall.		
	Moved to new site south of Ranger Station at West	405=	BASSETT BROTHERS
1045	Thumb.	1885	Given permit to operate stables and corrals at
1945	Began operating as Haynes, Inc. (Montana corpo-		Mammoth.
1948	ration).		Given permit to operate stables and corrals at Lower Geyser Basin .
1740	Haynes operated at Mammoth, Old Faithful,		Luwei Geysei Dasiii.

NELSON CATLIN

1885 Given permit to operate stables and corrals at **Mammoth.**

JAMES A. CLARK

1885 Given license to operate a stable and blacksmith shop near Capitol Hill at **Mammoth.**

Given permission to operate a bathhouse at **Mammoth.**

UNCLE TOM RICHARDSON

1890 Given permit to operate a ferry across the **Yellow- stone River** a mile above **Upper Falls** and to operate a carriage ride to the canyon on an all day conducted tour into the canyon—became known as "Uncle Tom's Trail."

BOAT CONCESSIONERS

- James Stevenson granted temporary permit to operate boat the *Anna*. Named by members of F. V.
 Hayden's survey to honor the daughter of Senator Dawes of Massachusetts. It was a canvas boat.
- 1875 Captain E. S. Topping granted temporary permit to operate the *Topping*. It was a small sail boat made by Capt. Topping from green whipsawed timber at his cabin near the Lake outlet in 1875. It was abandoned in 1876.
- 1882 Major J. S. Brisbin granted the first boat concession. Carroll Hobart and Henry Douglas were also involved. They were granted permit to operate a steamboat.
- 1883 H. B. Allen granted permit to operate a steamboat and other craft on lake.

E. C. WATERS

- 1889 Organized Yellowstone Lake Boat Company— Lake.
- 1890 Granted permit to transport tourists by boat to connect with stage coach stops—granted permit to sell candies, nuts, small groceries—blacksmithing jobs and transport tourists to Natural Bridges.
- 1892 Granted permit to operate the *Zillah* between **West Thumb** and **Lake**.
- 1907 T. E. Hofer succeeded Waters as president of Yellowstone Lake Boat Company.

T. E. Hofer

- 1907 Bought the boat concession. He first named it the T. E. Hofer Boat Co., but later changed it to the Yellowstone Park Boat Co. in 1912.
- 1880 Granted temporary permit to operate *The Explorer*. Built by the Hoffer brothers at Topping's Point during summer of 1880, the boat was 20' long, 6' wide and 2¹/₂' deep. It was wrecked and abandoned near Topping's Point.

1885 Permit given to operate a stable and corral for horses at **Mammoth.**

HENRY AND FRANCIS BROTHERS

- 1914 Erected swimming pool at **Old Faithful.**
- 1915 Five small plunges were opened at **Old Faithful.**
- 1918 Francis Brothers secured concession from Henry Brothers.
- 1924 Henry Brothers given permission to operate the **Old Faithful Baths**.
- Henry Brothers given permit to built and operate a bathhouse in **Old Faithful campground.**
- 1933 C. A. Hamilton secured concession of bathhouse and swimming pool at **Old Faithful.**
- The baths and swimming pool at **Old Faithful** were razed.

MISCELLANEOUS

- J. Beattie received permit to pasture a herd of 300 cattle on **Blacktail Deer Creek.**
- John McKenna of Deadwood, S.D., given contract to erect fencing for the livestock at **Soda Butte.**
- 1883 Warren Pendleton granted permit to operate store at Mammoth, Upper Geyser Basin, Lake and Canyon to sell fruits, confections, newspapers and periodicals.
- 1885 Mrs. C. M. Furch of Bozeman granted lease to build and operate hotel about ¹/₂ mile north of Lookout Point and ¹/₂ mile northeast of Crystal Creek at **Canyon.**
- 1889 Mrs. M. A. Baronett granted permit to operate post office at **Mammoth**—also to sell small articles.
- 1890 Lunch station concession granted to unnamed permission at Trout Creek.
- 1892 **Trout Creek** lunch station abandoned.
- 1905 Old barn, cache shed, bunkhouse and messhouse built at **Gardiner**.
- 1917 Jim Parker and Jay Wilcox were granted permit to cultivate between one and four acres of land one or two miles up the Yellowstone River in Turkey Pen Pass from Gardiner for the purpose of growing potatoes to sell in stores and to the passing tourists. They operated this for two years.
- 1923 Messhouse built at Lake.
- Made an addition to messhouse at **Canyon.** Storage shed and ranger station built at **Gardiner.**
- 1925 Barn and cache shed at **Gardiner** dismantled.
- 1926 Built a garage and bull pen at Canyon.
- 1937 Bunkhouse and messhouse built in 1937 at **Mammoth.**
- 1952 The messhouse and bunkhouse are Egger's and Steffen's residences—Gardiner.